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Introduction 

Ever since the much publicized November "incident"' a smal l number 

of Poston residents have been advocating the segregation  of about two hundred 

"undesirables" to facilitate the smooth-functioning of ca mp. Also, from time 

to time, beginning with the i-quiries made by the Senate Investigation Committee 

and climaxing with the investigations made by the Dies Com mittee, the Pacific 

Citizen, the Los Ingeles dailies, and the Japanese paper s -- notably the Utah 

Nippo, the Rocky Shimpo, and the Colorado Times -- havsbeen reminding the resi-

dents of a proposed segregation of "disloyal" elements fr om the relocation centers 

but the majority of them lightly dismissed these warnin gs as another propaganda 

series and did not consider the matter seriously until Mr. Pl ead issued the 

fo 1lowing statement on July 20, a day before his departure-for the Denver confer-

ence  : 

"Information has been received which states that a relocat ion 
center will be set aside as a segregation center for thos e 
individuals --hose sympathies lie with Japan. I wish to 
emphasize the fact that the segregation center will not  be a 
punishment center. The center at Leupp, Arizona will con tinue to 
be operated as a punishment center. 

"In accordance with my policy, I shall make an announcemen t 
regarding the segregation program as soon as I receive th e 
complete segregation plans from as'nington." 

Head's statement brought home the reality of segregation a nd the 

rumors manufactured overnight began to fly at a terrific p ace, "ild guesses such 

as these told in an authoritative tone spread like wildfi re throughout the three 

camps: 

"Manzanar people are going to be brought here since it's to b e 
the camp."' 
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"Granada is going to be the segregation camp." 

"Families are going to be separated." 

"The disloyal will be sent to Arkansas." 
VI 

"The weak guys are rushing* to the Ad to change their No' s 
to Yes's". 

"Eibei who returned here after 1950 and who have finished 
high school or higher cannot get leave clearance." (To 
°-ive credulity to such a statement they cited the case of 
a man in block 30 who attempted to get a clearance and 
was denied by the Leave office.) 

•The chief source of worry, however, appeared to be the im minent 

closing of Poston. People on the whole were more concer ned about the 'uture 

status of this camp than segregation. Rumors such as these  began to circulate: 

Ml his camp is goi g to be cleared of Japanese. There are 
so many Italian prisoners they don't know what to do wi th 
them. They are therefore going to bring them to Poston." 

To give authoritative tone to such a possibility they vari ously 

cited the following facts: 

"Seventy-five Italian prisoners are working near Pa rker." 

"Three hundred Italian prisoners are compounded near Par ker." 

"Three hundred Italian prisoners are living on the Ariz ona side 
of the Colorado River near this camp." 

"Four Italian prisoners are in the hospital." 

"The Italian prisoners were brought here because the cli mate here 
is similar to that of i'unisip." 

"The Catholic father said that eighty Italian prisoners  are 
working near Parker." 

Others gave the following 'evidence" for the evacuati on of the Japan-

ese from Poston in the immediate future: 

"President oosevelt said over the radio (evidently refe rring to his 
speech of June 28th) that Poston, Gila and Manzanar will  be closed." 
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"It  is funny they started paving the  roads.  They are 
certainly going to  kick  the Japs  out  and use this camp 
for something." (The plan to pave center roads was made 
in May of last year and the surveying was done during 
June and  July, 1942). 

"They are letting the Japanese build school buildings but 
these are not intended for  schools.  They are going  to 
be used as hospitals for the  wounded." 

It is interesting to note that the date o f ' closing of Poston 

differs  in  various versions — anywhere from Sept.  1,  1'  43 to spring of next 

year.  1'ost of the  dates, however,  concentrate between September  1st  and October 

30th of this  year. 

The news of the imminent closing  of  Poston soon reached such  alarm-

ing  proportions that the entire block  managers'  meeting of  July 27, 1943  was 

taken up by t : e unit administrator in an attempt to discredit such a  rumor.  He 

began: 

"People are  jittery  and worried about  what's  going to  happen. 
They make guesses and talk about  them.  hen someone says that 
Poston  will  be closed by  Sept. 1,  people naturally become excited 
over  it.  But these  rumors  are not true.  Mr.  Head  is  in Denver 
at this moment working  out plans.  r e don't  know ̂ vhat plans 
are going to be  made. I've  told yon everything I know, ly 
policy is  to let you know everything as quickly as  possible. 
Te don't  hold back anything from  you.  A.s soon as  Mr.  Head comes 

back,  the block managers will be called together  for  an emergency 
meeting." 

His voice rose emotionally  in the  typical Nelson manner as he 

continued : 

"No one is going to be thrown out of  ^oston.  Those people whose 
sympathies lie with Japan are going to be put  together.  Those 
people who applied  for repatriation  are going to be put together. 
They are sincere in  their belief.  I  don't  agree with them and 
they  don't agree with me. So  what? 

"They have nothing to worry  about,"  he assured the  block managers. 

"They  t  going to be transferred to a camp which is to be set 
aside for  that. I don't  know  which  camp  it is  to  be,  but 
they will be treated all right  there.  Let me repeat one  thing: 
Poston  is  not going to be  closed  on  September first. ! ' 
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The manager of block 12 inquired:  "'Tho  started that  rumor?" 

Nelson replied: "It was started by a fellow who has been doin g a lot of work 

for this  project.  He told that at a  meeting." ^ 

The manager of 45 interrupted:  "You can't  blame  just this  man for 

that kind of  rumor.  Similar stories are coming in here from the  outside.  'or 

instance, the 'rizona Fepublic came out with an article  recently  that those 

people who answered negative on the loyalty question and  who asked for repatria-

tion are going to be sent to Tule  Lake. It  stated also that the relocation 

camps at  Poston, Gila,  and ¡¿anzanar  will  be  closed.  This article was  written 

by  a guy by the name of - rhite  who  claims he  is  a Washington correspondent. 

He clsimed that he got the  information  from the  ~RA." 

Nelson  replied: "I  am not  blaming this  fellow for saying Poston is 

to be closed by September  first.  You say lots of news  are  coming from other 

centers and outside  papers. I  know  that."  Then  turning  to Ruth  McKee,  historian 

for the  RA,  who was listening  in, he exclaimed:  "low about that Arizona 

Republic, That's right  down your  alley." 1 

Miss McKee explained: 

"I  sat in the pro jeer directors'  conference in May and  several 
staff conferences, but nothing was decided more than that t hose 
people  will be  placed in some one  camp.  There  wasn't  any 
discussion  that the camps  will  be  closed. However,  when people 
go out and  one thousand or  two  thousand  people  are left  in  this 
camp or in other  camps, naturally  they  will  be  put  together 
for  reasons  of economy.  But  you know yourselves  how fast people 
are leaving. I don't  know who  this man hite is but I wouldn't 
believe everything  the  papers say. Before coming  here  I read 
that the  T!RA was  supplying each evacuee  one gallon of  whiskey." 

1. 
George Kurata, chairman of the Hospital Committee, visited block 59 about ten 
days previously .and called a meeting in the messhall to dis cuss current events. 
At' that time he claimed that Poston would be closed by Sept ember first. As 
soon as Nelson heard about it he hailed Kurata into his of fice and gave him a 
thorough verbal lashing. Kurata excused himself saying: " I didn't say tnat.  Ml 
I said was, 'It may be closed by September first.' It's my guess and. my guess^ 
is a good as yours'." He explained that the answer was given w hen someone in the 
audience asked: "Do you think this camp will be closed?" Acc ording to Roy 
Furuya, executive assistant to the unit administrator,  it was finally agreed 
between %lson and Kurata that the latter will hold anothe r meeting in block 59 
to clarify his former statement. 
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About this time someone  -  ho works in the A.d section made type-

written copies of Administrative Instruction  No. 100  which defines the pro-

cedure for segregation and distributed them among his fri ends. These gave rise 

to numerous speculations adding to the general confusion.  T he administration, 

realizing that numerous changes had to be made in it to insur e efficient functioning 

had carefully withheld it from the Poston Chronicle'but s omeone apparently had 

surreptitiously made copies of it to circulate in  camp. 

"About this time I also heard the rumor that "the most reliab le 

source confidentially stated that the whole segregation pr ogram had been cancelled 

at the project directors' meeting in Denver." Its origin was  credited to someone 

in Unit III whence  it  spread to the other two camps . 

On July 28 the Poston Chronicle announced that ¿ule Lake had b een 

selected as the segregation  camp.  At the block managers' executive committee 

meeting held  in  the morning, the manager of 45 requested verification of th e 

article from Roy Furuya who was representing the unit adm inistrator at the 

meeting.  Furuya replied casually: "That's right. We knew that for a long  time/' 
« 

45 exclaimed indignantly: "What? What do you mean by  'we'?" 

Furuya elaborated:  "Mr.  Head,  Mr.  Nelson and myself." 

45 probed further: "^elson knew that?" 

Furuya answered calmly:  "Yes, Mr.  Nelson knew that." 

45 continued accusingly: "Do you remember that Nelson said yesterday 

that his policy is to let us know everything just as soon as po ssible? That he 

has been telling us all he knew? This makes him a damn  liarl' f  There was an 

immediate chorus of "That's right  1"  from the block managers present. 

Furuya sensing the rising tide of resentment replied def ensively: 

"Sometime ago  i>: r .  Head called l*r .  Nelson and me into his office and said: 
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'I  received a notice from Washington that they have  selected  Tule Lake  for the 

segregation  camp. 1 But  Mr.  Head told us to keep quiet about  it  because it 

might be  changed. So  although  I  knew about it I  couldn't  tell  you. 1' 

45 continued relentlessly: "All  right! If that's  the case why 

did ^elson say that he did not know which camp  it  was to be when I asked  him 

about it?" 59 added: "He should have said he wasn't  sure.  That he couldn't 

tell us until  it  became definite. He lied to us  anyway.  That sure gripes  me." 

Furuya attempted to dismiss  it lightly by saying: "Yes,  but  Nelson 

is  nobody but an.  Okie.  I  cal  him  'Okie' all  the  time." 

45 could not be soothed and demanded: "That  doesn't  excuse  him. 

Bring Nelson  in." 

"'hen Nelson  entered the  room a few minutes  later  45 jumped to his 

feet and burst out  accusingly:  "You said that no one knows which camp is to be 

selected for the segregation  camp.  Your  policy is  to let us know everything 

just as soon as you find  out.  Now Roy Furuya here informed us a few minutes 

ago that you have known for some time the fact that Tule La ke  is  to be the  center. 

There is discrepancy in these two statements. And there  is  some indication 

that you have known  it.  Up to this time we took your word on face  value.  e 

believed what you  said. Nov;,  here  is  evidence that we might have been deceived 

by  you.  Our confidence  in you is shaken.  We want an explanation from  you." 

Nelson appeared extremely nervous when 45 was delivering hi s tirade 

and when he ceased replied defensively: "You people have m isunderstood  me. 

I said that my  policy is to  inform you everything definite and  official. Sure, 

Mr. Head told me sometime ago that Tule  Lake  might  be  the  place.  He was not • 

definite and we were  afraid it might  be  changed again.  7e thought  it  best to 

keep quiet  until  it became  definite.  If we had  told it then  people would have  become 
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excited and there would have been no end  to  rumors. If  Tule Lake had to be changed 

to somewhere else people would have been confused. I  will  show you that we 

weren't sure about Tule Lake by citing an incident. Do  you  know Ray  Best: Tell,  he 

is  the project director at Leupp. He is a good friend of  mine.  He was here 

about four weeks ago to spend, an afternoon with  us.  He  said, 'Len, I'm  going 

to be the director of the new segregation  camp.' I replied, 'Yeah?  There  is 

that Toing to  be?'  H e said, ' I don't  know  yet.'  Then I asked:  'Ihen  are you 

going  there?'  He answered:  'No  one  knows.'  So  you  see, even the guy who  is  to 

be the project director of the segregation camp  didn't  know where  it  was to  be. 

"Another thing is  this:  I  don't  think  it's  wise to announce anything 

too early before  it is definite.  At Manzanar they announced  it  too early and 

there was stoppage of  work.  They  figured: »Hell,  if we are going  away,  why should 

we continue work?' That  is serious.  You  realize  how serious the stoppage of work 

is.  I still repeat that everything definite is to be decided a t the Denver 

Conference which is going on right  now.  Mr. Head is coming back with the final 

and definite  plan.  Until then nothing is definite. This morning for instance , 

Idministrative Instruction  Ho.  100 lay on my  desk.  I am not announcing  it 

because we can't work it that  way.  e want to change  it.  You see there  isn't 

any use in announcing something we are planning to  change.  There is another 

thing. " re got a wire that the Gripsholm is to sail again. It said that six 

people were arriving here Sunday morning and would stay o vernight. Then they 

would go to Gila --onday with fifteen people frorr Poston. At @ila they would 

pick up some more and then proceed to New  York. I  went to see Hiss Butler who 

is in charge of that and asked her which fifteen were  goi-g.  She said she 

didn't have the li-,t and  didn't know. I  figured it was no use telling the 

people without knowing who was  going. I  thought  it  unwise to get people  excited. 
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Then those Manzanar people didn't arrive on Sunday. On Mond ay a wire came saying 

everything had been cancelled. You see, that's the way it  is.' 1 

45 acknowledged Nelson's explanation for the block manage rs: "Tie 

understand your situation  now.  But — I hate to let you in on this  — but the 

psychological setup of the residents now is just the same a s that at the time 

of evacuation.  ,J -'here are all kinds of rumors floating around. People hea r all 

kinds of things. But there isn't enough official informati on. They are talking 

about segregation and the closing of camp. People are worr ied. They don't know 

what to believe because every story is told with convincin g argument. They 

naturally come to the block managers to verify what they h ave heard. Therefore, 

we must be well-informed to either verify or discredit any s tory. I notice 

on the part of residents that an indeterminate  'up  in the air attitude' is 

growing rapidly. Anxiety is increasing. It is getting to be l ike February and 

March of 1942. Onl", of course, on a smaller scale. Peopl e were worried 

because they didn't know what was going to happen to them. The trouble was there 

wasn't enough official information.  i he officials did not have ready ans^vers 

when asked. That led to more guesses. And more guesses le d to greater anxiety. 

This is being repeated right now .  fe hate to see people worried.  r e are anxious 

to give the right information to the people as quickly as po ssible. 

"This morning we were led to believe that you had withheld the infor-

mation to which we, as block managers, were r ightfuly ent itled. Our confidence 

in you was shaken. But I am glad that our suspicion was unju stified and 

groundless. However, 1 want to stress that we want to shoo t straight and we 

want you to shoot straight, too." 

Nelson answered in an impassioned tone: "Just as soon as I lo se your 

confidence I'll quit my job. That has been the whole trouble w ith the adminis-

tration. The evacuees did not have confidence in us. Thin gs can't work that way. 
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I'll leave this place when I lose your conficence. I'll have n o use here then." 

In an attempt to stifle the numerous rumors floating in camp that 

Poston vouId be closed in the immediate future '-oris Bur ge, acting Project 

Director, and Ruth McKee,  '.'J RA historian, issued the following statements on 

July 29: 

There are no immediate plans to close any relocation center. The 
statement in the Los \ngeles Examiner of July 28 quoting di rector Myer was 
misleading in the extreme. It is the hope of the VRA that even tually all 
relocation centers will be closed. This has been stated many times. I am cer-
tain the evacuees themselves share this hope. But this m̂ .y b e a matter of 
years, and in the meantime evacuees can rest assured that e xcept for segregation 
or internal security reasons they will not be forced to leav e relocation centers 
if the" desire to stay. 

/s/ Moris Burge 
Acting Project Director 

In late May, when the .'ashington office of RA held a conf erence 
of Project Directors, the subject of segregation was tho roughly discussed, 
and a committee outlined the program and enumerated th e principles upon which 
the program should be founded. I attended all sessions of t hat conference. 

On July 14th I attended the Director's staff meeting.in W ashington, 
at which date and manner of segregation were announced. At neither time, nor at 
times when the orogram has been less formally discussed, have I heard anyone 
mention the closing of any center in the immediate future. 

Looking ahead, someone did mention the fact that when reloca tion 
had reduced the population of the centers to a fractional par t of the present 
population, it would be feasible to close some centers and combine the groups 
of people, for economy's sake. 

But with tlie movement of a large number of people to and fro m the 
segregation camp beginning in September, and all the check ing of people and 
goods, all the endless detail work of moving this group, it is not reasonable 
to believe that WRA should plan to close any center simult aneously. And, as 
for Poston, judging by the present speed of relocation, it d oes not seem 
probable that September 1 would find so many people reloca ted that there would 
be only two or three thousand of you left. 

/s/ Ruth McKee 

Historian, Washington Office 

At the block managers' meeting on August 3, "elson announced  that a 

meeting would be held in Ward 7 of the Hospital at 3:00 p.m. to acquaint the 

block managers and councilmen of the three units with the p rocedure for segrega-

tion. H e stated that he was counting on Head and Gelvin returning  from Denver 
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in time to address the group. Vfc that time he made the follo wing statements 

which I took down at random.: 

"The question of timing has to go into  this.  7e want to give 
every chance in the world to the segregants not to rush  it. 
They preferred the government of Japan to that of the United 
States. They expressed their desire to live  together.  That is 
their prerogative. Te are not going to influence them to 
change their minds." 

"Soon we will have a booklet prepared in which questio ns and 
answers will be given. There will be translations,  too.  It 
takes time to put it  out.  This afternoon the meeting will be 
held  f or  the purpose of dispensing information. "e are estab-
lishing the machinery for segregation immediately." 

"Administrative instruction No. 100 has been revised.  I'm 
glad it didn't break into the community." 

"Families of segregants may accompany them without stigm a being 
attached to  them.'' 

"The Family Telfare Department is going to render counseli ng service." 

"July 1st has been arbitrarily set as the deadline for the retraction 
of applications for repatriation.  Te had to  fix it  at some  date. 
Provisions will be made for those who wish to withdraw afte r 
July  1." 

The deadline for changing No to -es was July  15,  but this does not 
apply to our  project." 

"Civil liberties will not be, denied to "No, No people." 

When someone inquired whether Tule Lake could not accomo date any more people 

rumored, Nelson replied: "The Tule Lake population is way down, and if Tule 

Lake cannot accomodate all of them another center will be sel ected." (About 

this time it was widely rumored that the majority of the peop le at Tule Lake 

did not wish to be sent to another center so the administrati on was flooded 

with requests  for  repatriation in the hope of remaining  there.)  Someone 

suggested that block meetings be called to  find  out what cuestions the  resi-

dents wanted answered but "elson dismissed the idea claimi ng, "If you break 
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the news that a meeting on segregation will be  held, Yard 7  will be  jammed." 

About 250  individuals,  including 110 block managers and councilmen from 

the three camps, assembled in "Yard  7  at  3:00 p.m.  to receive news of the  pro-

cedure for  segregation.  Since Head and Gelvin failed to return from Denver, 

Bürge, the acting project  director,  presided at the meeting. Ted % s and 

John Powell -ho attended the Denver Conference, and Zimmer man, Employment 

Chief, were also present to  aid  Bürge  in  answering queries. 

Bürge ODened the meeting by announcing that "The segrega tion program 

is for the purpose of placing in a separate center those persons of Japanese 

ancestry who by their acts have indicated that their loyal ties lie with.  Japan, 

or in the case of United State's citizens have refused to s wear allegiance to 

the United States. That is their decision, not ours. This c ountry has no 

alternative." 

He disclosed that the first movement out of Poston will occu r during 

the first week of Ootober and will affect.the following tw o groups: 

1.  Persons who applied for repatriation or expatriation and who did 

not retract before  J uly  1, 1943.  Families in many cases signed as a group but 

where they failed to do so the Social " ?relfare  Dept.  will interview individual 

family members and render couns ling  service. 

2.  hose persons who answered Ho to question  28,  who refused to answer 

and who refused to  register.  A neutral answer will be considered equivalent to 

a negative  one.  All persons in this category will be given an opportunity to 

state whether they have changed their minds since re istra tio- or  not.  In case 

of change they will be later given a hearing before the Boar d of Review for 

Leave Clearance and that body will recommend to the projec t director whether 

they should be sent to Tule Lake or be given leave clearance . 
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Bürge explained that the families of segre-^nts will be given an 

opportunity to choose voluntarily whether to accompany th e segregant to Tule 

"Lake or to remain in Poston. He also stated th-t  it  was unnecessary for them 

to apply for repatriation. Such a decision must be made w hen the families 

of segregants are interviewed by'the  vr elfare Department. 

Bürge also related, at this time that the Tule Lake Center w ill be quite 

similar to Poston except that there will be no evacuee gover nment or- judicial 

commission. furthermore, no leave permits will be issue d.  A n appeal board, 

however, will be set up to conduct he rings for those who feel  that they have 

been unjustifiably transferred there.  iJ e concluded that the administration was 

depending on the block managers to disseminate all inform ation concerning 

segregation and that council members will be kept informed . 

To illustrate the type of worries harbored by the evacuees c oncerning 

segregation I am quoting in toto the oueries that appeared  during the question 

and answer period: 

Q.  Must all minors go with their parents? 
k.  In case there is no guardian, it is unwise to leave them h ere. 

0. It the end of the war what happens to the minor? 
A.  It cannot be predicated now. It depends on Congress and th e public. 

(Haas) 

Q. Is a leave permit p-ranted at Tule Lake? 
A. In  case of extreme emergency some leave permits will be grant ed. =tnd 

there will be some student relocation. (Haas) 

Q. ".¿hat  c" 1 ass does a parolee belong to? 
A.  Same class as any other evacuee for purposes of segregation , however, 

he is on the stop list. This is just for his own protection. .hen a 
parolee wishes to go on an indefinite leave, we must write t o the 
Dept. of Justice, Division of Immigration and Naturalizati on, at -os 
Angeles and notify them where he wants to go. They review hi s papers. 
If "they approve his leave we must notify the Dept. of Justic e, Division 
of Immigration and Naturalization, at Philadelphia and th e District 
Attorney o^ 'he county where he is going. (Zimmerman) 
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Q.  "Till persons who applied for repatriation be returned to  J apan during or 

after the war? 
.A.  This depends on the  action  of the Japanese government. Conoerning the 

status of the Japanese  aft-T  the war no one  knows.  may be allowed  to 
go back at his own expense. 

Q.  Can a person apply to change his answer on question 28 fr o?? Yes to No? 

A. Yes. 

0.  r h^t happens to a person who has no citizenship in Japan and answered Ho-
A.  He will be sent to Tule Lake. (Surge) 
A.  '"lo one who cannot go to the unrestricted area will be  left  in the 

nine centers at the end  of  the  year.  (Powell) 
A.  However,  there is  no immediate plan to close any of the " r RA centers. 

(Burge) 

C.  liow long will it take for an answer fror the Feview Board? 
A.  The recommendation o^ the Peview  Board is  sent to the project director 

for  his decision.  : ds  will be given to the person without delay. 
August 23 is the  last  date to send the list of names. The Review 
Board will be set up  as  soon as ¿-r .  bad  returns.  (Burge) 

Q.  How many of the present Tule L ake evacuees will stay there: 

A.  Unknown 

Q.  That happens  in  case Tule Lake cannot accomodate all of the segregants? 
A.  Other accomodations will be made by the government. 

C.  "Ti-twill happen to expectant mothers and invalids? 
They will not be sent out until they are- able to  travel. 

Q. ill  personal belongings be taken care o^ by the government? 

A. Yes.  Segregants should take enough for sixty days, others wil l be sent 
later. The segregants must pay freight on"unnecessary art icles. They 
must pay freight for ornamental things such as ironwood carv ings. (Haas) 

Q.  'ill persons who applied for repatriation and  did  not ask for a change 
before July  1  be iriven a hearing? 
A. No.  Not in Poston. They can apply  for  a hearing before a board, of 

appeals in Tule L^ke. 

C.  r ill clothing allowance and wages be the same as in the relo cation centers? 

A.. Yes. 

C. rill Tule Lake be open to visitors? 

U A procedure will b4 established by PA set  ing  forth who ma" visit and 

under what conditions. 

C.  If a husband applied for repatriation, does the wife have t o go? 
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A. No.  The decision is up to the wife. The Welfare Dept. will ac t as 
a counseling agency. Repatriation  is  a serious personal matter. 

,Q.  hat happens to the people in Tule Lake after the war? 
A. It  has been answered already.  *  e cannot answer that. 

Q.  Till any evacuee be on the Board of Review for Segreg ation? 
A. No,  only appointed personnel. However, provisions will be m ade to have 

one or more evacuee observers. 

Q.  Are repatriations cancellable now? 
A.  No, but requests for change of status may be brought befo re the appeal 

board at Tule Lake .  For the train movement the escact number must be 
known. For th t reason an arbitrary date was chosen as July  1. 

Q.  Till Tule Lake be similar to the Crystal City damp? 

A. No. 

Q.  What is the climate condition of rule Lake? 
A.  Cooler in summer, colder than Poston in winter and more r ain. 

Q.  ""hat will be the status of the segregants after the w ar? 

A..  Unknown. 

Q.  Do they (  i.e.  Tule Lake people ) get first chance to go to Japan after t he 

war  2 
A.  "*e cannot answer that. That depends on the Japanese gove rnment. 

Q.  Till persons who applied for repatriation after July  1,  1943, be in the 
same category as those who applied before July  1? 
A.  No. Action will be taken on those persons at a later date . 

0.  T'-ose persons on seasonal leave  --  can they be allowed to go to Tule Lake 
to rejoin their families? 
A.  Yes. 

.  Till the status of Poston be changed with the evacuees go ing out? 
Till the three camps be consolidated? Till others be bro ught into Poston? 
A.  No change is contemplated at the present time. The WRA in f ashington 

estimates that our copulation will still be 15,000 at the  end of the 
year when the people on seasonal leave return. (Burge) 

Q.  Can relatives or friends in Tule Lake be called to bosto n? 
A.  The same procedure as applied to those in the Santa An ita Assembly 

Center will be followed. Relatives or friends must apply for transfer 
from the relocation center to which they are  sent. 

Q.  Can vital workers, as doctors, be replaced if a shortage i s seen caused by 
segregation . 
A.  Yes. 
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Procedure for Segregation: 

Board of Review for Segregation: According to Mas &awashima, chairman of the 

Central Executive Board, H ead was basically opposed to  segregation.  His 

attitude was that segregation would not serve any good purp ose  --  that the 

most efficient procedure would be to remove four to six perpetual troublemakers 

from  camp.  Although he had received instructions from Washington to change 

No's  to  Yes's  on question 28 he had purposely refused to permit any c hange in 

the hope that plans for segregation might be altered.  By  making Poston a 

stumbling block he had hoped  to  offset segregation. (It  is  rumored that this 

'attitude was greatly influenced by the petition presen ted to him in  May  contain-

ing  "17,000  names" requesting him to remain in Poston for the durati on). 

\ccordin<r to Kawashima  n ead  presented his plan at the Denver Conference and as 

a concession to him the rest of the project directors agre ed to give  a  uniform 

hearing for all those who had not changed their answers pri or to «July  15. 

It is reported that other centers had bern giving hearin? .;s to all those who 

desired to change their answers since registration  in  February, but are now 

giving rehearings. 

Head and Gelvin returned from Denver in the afternoon  of August  4,  and 

immediately the administrative  quarters  became a hive of  activity.  Numerous 

administrative conferences were called to formulate p lans for the smooth 

functioning o p he  program.  On lugust  6,  Head announced the appointment of the 

following to the Board of Review for Segregation: 

Ralph  i- .  Gelvein, associate project director 
Len L.  kelson,  Unit I administrator 
James Crawford, Unit II administrator 
.Moris Burge, Unit  III  administrator 
Ted Haas,  p ro jec t  attorney 
John Powell, acting  chief,  Community I.'anag ment 
Giles  L.  Zimmerman, chief, Employment Division 
E nest  L. killer, Chief,  Internal Security y 
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At the same time Burge was given charge of the segregation program. The 

following day  r alter Balderston, supervisor of Community  ctivities,  and  Ir. 

A.  p ressman, director of Health and Sanitation, were added to the Board. At 

the same ti e the following were appointed "by Head on the recommendation of 

the  b" 1 obk managers and  council  of their respective unit to act as evacuee 

observers at the hearings: 

Unit  Is  Roy Furuya and Seeicbi Nomura 

Unit  lis J.  Kazato, Fukuda, and F. Nitta 

Unit III: N. Ozawa and F. Kagiwada. 

Late in the afternoon of \ugust  6,  a 1 those -/ho were to be given a 

hearing next day were notified of the time and place of meti ng by their 

respective block m nagers. 

The Board of Review for Segregation swung into action on the morning 

of lugust -11 those who answered "No" to question 28 (with t he exception 

of those who also applied for repatriation), who failed to answer, or who 

stated "Neutral", were called before the board to deter mine whether they wished 

to change or to retain their original answers. For  ir poses  of segregation 

"Neutral" answers were considered equivalent to.negati ve ones, "he members 

of the Board worked in pairs: Powell and ^ressman, and Gelvin and Balderston 

in Unit I; Miller and Grawfold in Unit II; and Haas and  inane  r man in u it 

III. > r e the officials assigned to Camp I and III utilized a dministrative 

offices for their interviews, Filler and Crawford mo ved from block to block 

using the messhalls to conduct their hearings. The indiv idual interviews gener 

ally consumed only a fey: minutes since the B 0*rd was only interested in 

segregating those who wished to retain their "No's" fr om those who desired to 

rhan-e to "Yes." The simplicity of the procedure is evident in Olson's 
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graphic explanation to  X:  m' re ask an  individual  to come  in.  ,T1 hen 

we say  to  him: 'You  ans  r ered No to question 28 when  the  registration was held 

in February. Is that  correct?'  And then we say:  '  ̂ o you feel the same way 

ri*:ht  now?'  If he says,  'Yes',  we say to him:  'Thank  you very  much.'  If 

he says,  'No',  we  say: 'You'll  hear from us  again.'  x t '  s  as simple as  that.'' 

\ccording to ^en Nelson,  Gelvin's  team was more efficient than  Powell's 

since  it  was not so interested in "asking so many  questions".  The hearings 

moved without a hitch in Units  I  and  III,  but in Unit  II  Miller and Crawford 

encountered some difficulty. hen they approached  block  207 on the first day 

everyone o* 1 the 33 double negatives refused to change their answers. O f that 

number,  t.velve refused to change claiming they had >een instruct ed by their 

parents not to do so while six declare:! they were afraid o f being drafted if 

they rem-ined  in. ; Pocton.  I'iller and Craw^old suspected something was  in  the 

sir 30 suspending  their  hearings conducted an  investigation.  (Las ^awashima 

with reference to this remarked: " r 'ven those dumb guys got wise because 

the answers were so uniform.") The investigation reveale d that the night 

before meetings had been held in blocks  207,208,  209 and  21S  to advise the 

youngsters how to conduct themselves at the  hearings.  Interestingly  enough, 

the main discussion centered on whether  it  was more advantageous to remain 

in Poston or to ero to Tule  L ake rather than on the seriousness of the  situation. 

The statistics on answers to question 28 as obtained from D55 304-A 

(for male citizens) and  126 Rev.  (for female citizens and aliens) are as 

follows : 

Answers to Question 28 

Definite  "No"  Camp I  Camp II Camp III Total 

Male citizens  196 225 41  462 

Female citizens  26 60 6 92 
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Definite "No" Camp I Camp II Camp III Total_ 

.Male \liens 5 2 3 10 

Female Aliens 0 1  1 2 

Cualified "No 1 

Male Citizens 

Unanswered 

Male Citizens 

Female Citizens 

Male aliens 

Female aliens 

Neutral 

Kale Citizens 

Female aliens 

21 28 20 69 

0 1 1 2 

7 2 2 11 

1 2 3 6 

O i l 2 

5 9 3  6 6 8 

Female Citizens 12 2 1 I 5 

Male aliens 
0 0 0 0 

0 1 0 ' 1 

According to information received confidentially from Len ^elson on 

August 21, Of the 321 called before the *oard in Unit I, 140 requested to 

change their ans ers frorr No to Yes_, while 181 stubbornly clung to their 

original answers. One of the s rongest factors in influenc ing the change 

of answers appears to be the issuing late Saturday afternoo n of Segregation 

Release 2A, which states that the Selective Service /Vet wi ll also apply to 
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those confined in Tule  L ake. Apparently a great number of the double negatives 

hoped to evade the draft by going to the segregation camp. 

According to Len Nelson and Mas Kawashima, Segregation Rel ease  2A.  was 

oriffina 1ly intended to be issued on Friday, the day before the first h earings, 

but the original signed by Wade  H ead was lost and since the mimeograph of f ice 

will not accept anything not signed by the project direc tor it was delayed. 

The original was finally discovered in Camp III on the desk of Drennen, the 

Leave Officer there, •'•hen Kawashima expressed great co ncern over its delay, 

Drennen is reported to have said: "This is nothing at all. T his isn't going 

to change their minds. hat's the use of dtrng anything for them?" Mas 

replied: "I'm a ¿ap so I'm working for the Japs." 

Statistics obtained confidentially fro Mas Kawshima indi cate that the 

draft circular had some influence in changing answers. °f the 94 interviewed 

in Camp I on Saturday, 23 requested change while 71 refu sed to change; while of 

the 70 interviewed on Sunday, the day after the posting of t he draft circular, 

28 changed while 42 refused. Nomura stated that of the 26 int erviewed by  - owe  11' 

team o- Fonday morning 20 changed.  H e further observed that most of the Nisei 

changed but the Iajority of the Kibei stuck to their orig inal answers. 

Statistics for the other units are still unobtainable b ut from chance conversa-

tions it  ?  spears that the ration is about the same as in Camp I. 

According to  iJ elso.n, almost all females who answered double negative 

changed their answers during the hearings. The majority o f them answered 

negatively because of misunderstanding or misinterpreta tion on the p':.rt of 

the interviewer. H« cited the case of one woman who answere d No, when asked 

whether she ^ould join the "'aacs, because of he -two mont hs old baby, and the 

interviewer taking for granted thc.t she would answer No to t he loyalty question 
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also.  u ne Ribei girl who scarcely understands English was aske d by a "isei 

interviewer in Japanese, "Till you become emperor of Jap an?" with reference to 

question  28,  so she answered  "No."  According to ^elson a great deal of 'he 

No's  received during registration could have been avoided i f we had sufficient 

interviewers with o;ood working knowledge of  Japanese.  Those who persisted 

in  retaining their negative ansivers apparently did so because their husbands 

had also done  so.  They seemed to have no definite convictions of their ow n 

concerning loyalty. 

Nomura reported that all the  I ssei,  male and female, who answered No 

changed their answers during the hearings.  It  was obvious that they had mis-

understood the question because of the inadequacy of t he interviewer's Japanese. 

About this time the following rumors were afloat in cam p: 

"Those guvs who answered No to question 28 must face music a little 
later. (Apparently referring to imminent drafting of  a isei). 

"A short--vave radio broadcast from Japan claimed recen tly that 
Japan knov/s  of  the segregation process going on at present in the 
relocation  centers. It  advised Nisei to act as American citizens 
and to obey American  laws." 

"People are going around getting married just as they did before 
evacuation.  The girls wan to follow their boy friends to the-
segregation  camp.''  (Actual investigation revealed that so far 
there has been only one case of a girl marrying a double n egative 
to facilitate her accompanying him to Tule Lake). 

The following releases were issued by the project director during the 

course  of  the hearings (which started on  Aug.  7 and ended about  Aug.  11) 

and subsequently to acquaint the residents with the purpo se and procedure of 
� 

segregation: (The following releases are omitted: Colo rado River Tar Relocation 

Project Release on Segregation  (No.l), (No. 2A), (No. 3A), ( NO. 4A),  ( NO. 5A), 

(No.  1), 'No. 7A), ( NO. 8A), ( NO. 9A),  ( NO.  lOA),  ( NO. H A ) , Segregation Notice 

No.  3 A,  and letter re repatriation interviews through Family " elfare  Dept., 

from Lou  Butler.) 
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Attitude of Double  Negatives: 

The following are some of the attitudes of those who wished t o retain 

their negative answers at the hearings before the Board of Review  for  Segregation 

Kazuo Kawai of block  45,  who  is  °3 years of age answered negatively to 
the "loyalty question at the time of registration because h e could not see how 
he could  forswear allegiance  to  the  ^mperor of °apan.  'I'he day before  his 
registration his friends h^d informed, him of the questi on but he could not 
decide how to answer  it  at that  time,  ^owever ,  the moment the question vras 
read to him by the Japanese sergeant he knew there could be o nly one answer  — 
a negative  one.  H© calls himself  "the  tragedy of the  Kibei".  He was taken 
to «Japan at a very early age and called back  five  years  ago.  ^e feels that 
if parents had not sent their children to  J ~apan this sort of tragedy would not 
have occurred. X explained to him at full length that since many of the 
Japanese parents were poor and had to work in the fields tog eth r little children 
came in the way so for  expediency's  sake they had been sent to  °apan.  Their 
intention was to make sufficient money to return to  J apan to be reunited with 
their children but the anticipated fortune  could  not be accumulated so they 
wer e compelled to be separated from  them. If such  had been the  case,  Kawai 
feels that  J -hese parents should  not  have had children in the first  place.  He 
told X with anguish that if he has children of his own he wil 1 not let them 
out of his  sight. 

Kawai despises those people who changed from No to Yes becaus e a thing 
like loyalty should not be played around with for  the~sake  of personal conven-
ience.  He brands these individuals as "cowards" and of no  value  to  either 
country.  Commenting on question 28 he related to X that  if  that question had 
been asked  in  its original form only four  or  five Issei in block 45 would have 
answered negatively. He believes that all of the Issei in  America have degenera-
ted considerably in the last thirty  or  forty years and condemns their oppor-
tunistic attitude. He  continued:  " 'hen it comes to a true life and death 
crisis,  you  will  find out the true  color  of the Japanese, even  if  they be 
blabber  mouths.  Even  if  we  TO to Tule  Lake,  when drafting  comes,  I doubt if 
very many will stick it  out.  iV -ost  of  them will change  color  and join the 
army.  One Kibei told  me,  * Yell,  if they draft  me,  I  can't  help  it.' It's 
life and death  there. How  can a Kibei be comfortable  in  a  U.S. uniform  when 
his convictions  lie  elsewhere? I know what  I'm doing. I'm  satisfied  in  the 
knowledge that  I'm  sticking it  out according  to my convictions even if they 
take my  life away." 

"If  I say  Yes I'll  be .drafted and maybe get  killed.  If  I  go to Tule  I 
won't have to  fight."  (Rather a widespread attitude at one time) 
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"They kicked us out here and we are not treated as Ameri can citizens 
How can we swear allegiance to the United States?" 

"If I change to Yes I won't be able to walk on the streets of T okyo 
with a clear conscience after the war. I can't forswear alleg iance to the 
Emperor of Japan." 

"During the hearings a Kibei came in with his Kibei wife. It happened 
that both answered double negative and the wife wanted to b e sure that her 
husband did not change his answer. 

Î j J J J I MJ J r VJ  ̂

A Kibei'answered "Neutral" and wanted to retain that ans wer. hen 
Powell informed him that a neutral answer constituted a negative answer he 
stated that he would not mind going to Tule Lake. If he changed to "Yes" he 
feared something might happen to his relatives in Japa n. Yet, he couldn't 
commit himself to putting down a definite "No". 

# V # 

A notice was sent out shortly before the hearings to a man whose name 
was on the stop list but whose registration questionnai re could not be located, 
to fill in another blank. He answered double negative.  He  said: "They can't 
trust me, so why should I trust them?" 

P t i W 

A Nisei gave the following reasons to Powell for wanting t o retain his 
original answer: He didn't want to kill. \fter -11 war is a n institution in 
which  men  kill each other,  -e  explained: "I can't pledge allegiance to any 
political state. I can pledge allegiance to something s upernatural, God, for 
instance." lien Powell inquired whether he attended ch urch here  he  replied 
"No", "'hen questioned if he had attended church in pre-e vacu?tion  days he 
maintained that he  was  once a good Baptist but  had  stopped going  to  church 
because "No -adays churches justify war and that is con trary to the teachings 
of Christ." 

A.  i-ibei requested to retain his No answer because he can' t speak English 
and therefore can't relocate successfully. He believed th at after the war 
there would be ">o opportunity for him in this country. 
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One young Ni se i told Jim Yamada shortly before the hearings that when 
called he would take the map, which appeared recently in't he Sunday edition 
of the  L.A.  Examiner showing the areas conquered by Japan since Pearl H ar bor, 
and throwing it on the table would say, "Can you blame me f or having pro-Axis 
sympathies?" 

l ULJ L̂- L''  ̂

Len Nelson in his usual colorful language related the foll owing incident 
on the first day of the hearings: "One tough guy came in this m orning mad 
as hell, ^e was hot. He shouted:  'You  can't change my Find. No use calling 
me in so many times.' So I said to him: "All right, all right, B rother. 
I'm not trying to change anybody's mind, -here are lots of people who want 
to change their answers and we are giving them a chance.'" 

-  m m m 

Nomura reported that on the first day of the hearing two brot hers out 
of three who had answered No were called before Powell's tea m. The youngest 
who has never visited Japan readily changed his answer bu t his older Kibei 
brother refused to cahnge .  Nomura was curious to know how the oldest brother 
would answer. 

Nomura also related that on the first day two individuals f rom the same 
block failed to show up for their interviews so Powell sent a messenger to 
fetch them.  n e found out that they had gone fishing early in the rrorning .  The 
block residents informed him that they had been saying: "It 's no use going 
before the "earing Board because we are not changing our an swers." 

According to Ted Haas the majority he interviewed in Camp III who wished 
to retain their original answers did so because they felt th ey were not 
American citizens. They could not soeak English and could se e no future in 
America. He further claimed that many of them were think ing in terms of 
actual invasion of America by Japanese forces when they an swered those questions. 

m m m 

Nine Kibei in the Unit I Police Department answered doubl e negative and 
realize that they will be transferred to Tule Lake within a few weeks. They 
want "to take it out" on the residents so for the past month or so have been 
raiding small-time gambling games. It is reported that the largest stake they 
have confiscated so far has been ^1.59. About July 20 they c aused a commotion 
in the hospital by raising cain there after midnight, "hen admonished by the 
Senior Nurse they stole the doormat which announces visit ors. 

i t  I I I I  I I  I I I I  a I I I I  
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Attitude of Those ho Changed from "No" to "Yes" 

The work of Issei "morale managers", like X and No. 14, who h ave been 

advising youngsters whever consulted to give the cuestión a second thought, 

probably  had  gr -t influence in the changing of answers. Their argumen ts 

seemed to run in the following direction: "Te are not tryi ng to influence your 

decision either one way or the other but you had better do s ome serious thinking. 

This is your last chance to change. The United States gover nment is giving 

you another chance because it realizes that you were not in the right frame 

of mind when you answered that question. To get  a  job in post-war Japan 

you must have unusual skill. Cheap labor is abundant there and you cannot hope 

to compete with them." 

Shortly before the Denver Conference, it was reported that  a  îsei 
came rushinp into Head's office to have his answer changed.  He  cried indignantly 
"My father double-crossed me.  He  told  me  to answer double negative  and  he 
answered "Yes" himself." 

According to Ted Haas one third of the group he interviewed in Camp III 
wanted  to change their answers. The majority of them told him that they were 
still sore at evacu  tion at  the time of registration but on second thought 
realized they were more American than Japanese. They felt  that there would be 
greater opportunities for them in post-war airierica than Japan. 

j ui M.!L!Uj J UUj -

X was  consulted by  a  Kibei who had answered "No"  and  "Neutral" to 
questions 27 and 28 during registration. He has a lame wife, a child,-  and  an 
aged mother-in-law. During registration he hesitated in answering question 28 
when it was read to him in English saving it  was  not quite clear  to  him. 
Sergeant Kinoshita therefore, rephrased it in Japanese: " Are you willing to 
shoot the Emperor of Japan?" He replied: "I don't know. I don't think so." 
Since he could not make up his mind he answered "Neutral". A fter listening to 
X's arguments he decided to change to "Yes." 

m m m 
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A young Nisei who has never been to Japan answered "Neutral" a nd then 
changed to  "Yes",  during the hearings. He told Powells "If the war is going 
to last only a short time  I'd stick  it  out,  but  it  looks as though  it's  going 
to last a long time,  hat's  the use of being stubborn?" 

# m # m 

Two boys who answered "Neutral"  in  block 45 were very .littery before 
the hearings and kept asking X when the administration woul d give them a 
hearing.  One told  X: "I  answered  'Neutral 1 but that  can't  be so  bad. I 
didn't  say  'No'.  They've got to give me a hearing because I  don't  think they 
can afford to let  it  stand as  'Neutral 1.  Anyway, I  didn't  know what  I  was 
do in®-  then." 

mnr nm 

Frank  Kobayashi,  the present block manager  of 21, is  reported to have 
gone around during registration  saying:  "No Japanese can with a clear  con-
science say  'Y es '  to that  question."  That attitude gained great popularity 
for him in the block and subsequently he was elected block  manager.  Now that 
hê  has changed his answer to "Yes" the block residents are re ferring  to  him as 
a "shiftless bastard." 

I I I I I I I I I !'' I I  I ! I I  
i t  ¡1 ¡1 ¡HnnHr t r  

X related the case of a  iv ibei who had ho ed to change his double nega-
tives at the hearings but whose name was not called because he had also applied 
for repatriation. lie is furious now because he cannot fin d a loophole to 
get out from going to Tule  Lake.  He considers himself a grand sap now since 
the Selective Service Act will also apply to Tule Lake. 

Attitude of Those >o Influenced Others to Answer "No" at Tim e of Registration. 

One prominent member of the Judo Department influenced hi s friends to 
answer double negative while he himself answered in the af firmative. (The 
Judo Dept. went on record to tell everyone in its departmen t to answer "No's" 
to 27 and 28.)  As  soon as the news of segregation was announced he became 
afraid that his colleagues would find out that he had "dou blecrossed" them so 
rushed to the elfare Department to apply for repatriation.  He  had hoped by 
doing so +~o be included in the first contingent leavin g Poston but has recently 
discovered th-t since his application was not filed befor e July 1st his de-
parture will be much later than that of his colleagues, (i.e. after his case 
has been considered by the Bo r̂d of Review for Leave Clearan ce). 

V 

Peter Kanno, No. 14 in our Sp-nish °onsul Report, revealed this inter-
esting bit of news concerning Takeshita (No. 17) who was p robably the most 
influential member of the Judo clique efore his departur e for Chicago in June: 
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"During registration Takeshita w?s telling people to answ er double negative. 
He intended to answer that way himself. I got hold of th e news so went to 
vi^it him and tried to impress on him the seriousness of s uch  action.  1  told 
hi- that segregation would come and that he might even be tri ed for treachery, 
couldn't  see  it that way at that  time. I  visited hi" again on the eve of 
registration but he was not at home so  I  explained everything all over again to 
his  wife.  I managed to make her realize the consequences involved  in  answering 
'no'.  Takeshita came to see me about seven  o'clock  on the morning of  registra-
tion so I reiterated my stand to him.  I  wasn't sure at that time whether  it  had 
any effect on him or not but on the way home he stopped and said:  'I  registered 
the way you advised me o but please keep this a  secret.' I  have kept it a 
secret till today. Takeshita's departure for Chicago seve ral weeks ago was 
greatly influenced by this fact. He felt very guilty ab out 'doublecrossing ' 
his colleagues. He couldn't tell the o hers to answer affirm atively because 
he had no time to contact them at so late an hour or they ha d already 
registered ." 

Mas Kawashima related the plight of another "double-cross er" a few 
days ago: "There's a guy who answered affirmatively to 27 and 28 but influenced 
others into answering double negative. Ee was in an awf ul mess for a time but 
his brother stuck to his guns before the Review Bord so h e's happy now since 
the whole family is going with him." 

Jimmy Yahiro, vhose dirty acts I have already cited on numer ous occasions, 
is very unpopular among his friends who now realize that th ey had been tricked 
into answering double negative by  him.  There was talk a few weeks ago, shortly 
after his appointment as city clerk, of "besting the hel l out of him." (in 
connection with Yahiro, Nelson had this to say about him: " there's a guy who 
went round and told others to answer  'No'.  :: e then answered 'Yes' himself. 
Yes, we will catch up with that guy'soon. There were many guy s w o told people 
to answer  'No'".  As an afterthough he added: If I had my way during registr a-
tion  I'd  have split camp into four parts and called mass meeting s of parents 
and children to tell them what registration really me ant. Then we wouldn t 
have had all this trouble." 

There is some indie tion at present that the administratio n is intending 
to chastize these scoundrels efter the main segregation p rogram is over. As 
Ted Haas told me: "Well, it  isn't  exactly cricket to tell people to answer 
«No'  and then asnwer  ' Yes'  yourself." Furthermore, it seems very probable 
that a small number of perpetual troublemakers like ¥ .  Okamoto ,  Tsukamoto, -
Nakamura, etc. will be shipped to L e u p p  after the main movement is completed. 
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.Another political  figure  who is  "laying  low" at present for  double 
crossing  his  friends is  Kuroiwa, city manager,  who was undisputed leader 
of the ^ibeis  in  Camp II after Tachibana was removed during the beating o f 
Saburo  &ido  last  January.  According to Nomura, Kuroiwa as city manager was 
scheduled to speak at the send-off party for the fourth con tingent of  volunteers 
to  the combat team several weeks a^o but attempted to get ou t of  it  by re-
questing George -urata to speak for  him.  Kurata  being  one of those individuals 
who "love to hear their own words" readily accepted. hen N omura heard about 
this he scolded  ! -urata:  "^on't  do  it.  Let Kuroiwa  speak. If  he  talks,  he has 
to say sonet ing  patriotic.  He was saying very pro-Japanese things until 
Tachibana was  arrested.  wanted a good job so was saying those things to get 
the support of the residents. Now that he has a  good  job he  is  a  loyal merican 
citizen. It's  a good idea to let people know he  is  a dirty  guy."  So on the 
following day Kurata informed Kuroiwa that  it  was the  city  manager's duty to 
speak at the  party.  The latter  replied: "Oh, don't  say  t h t . You  do it for 
me."  He then failed to show up at the council office in Unit  I  for several 
days claiming his  wife  was sick and he was needed at home. Nelson and 
Nomura waited for him  until  Friday but since he failed to appear they put 
Kurata  on  the program  for  Sunday  night.  Nomura  concluded:  "They tell me 
that Tachibana was not  really bad. It  was Kuroiwa who was giving him  advice. 
If  -  Kuroiwa asn't  sicking,  Tachibana would not have gone to that extreme  ." 

I I I I  I I 1'I I  I I  I I I I  I f  

Board  'o£  Review  for  Leave  Clearance 

After the transfer  to  Tule Loke  of  repatriates and expatriates and those 
who "ishea to retain  their  "NO's" to question 28 has been completed --  i.e. 
somewhere about the latter half of October -- the Board  of  Review for Leave 
Clearance will according to Administrative Instructi on No.  22 Revised begin 
interviewing tho~e individuals who fa11 within the foll owing categories: 

1.  Those who qualified their answers to question 28 in t he registration. 

2.  Those who changed from "Ho" to  "Yes"  during the hearings, conducted 
by the Board of Review for Segregation. 

3.  Those who applied  for  repatriation  or  expatriation and then withdrew 
their application before July  1, 1943. 

[ 

4. T  .ose who applied for repatriation after  July 1,  19  43. 

5.  Those who  desire  to change their answers to question, 28 from "Yes" 
to  "No". 

6.  Those  who  have been denied leave clearance by the project direc tor. 

7.  Those who have been unfavorably passed upon by the Joi nt Board 
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8.  Those  with  adverse intelligence  records. 

9. A n  others whose eligibility for leave  is in doubt. 

This  board which is  entirely separate from the Board of Review for Segregatio n 

will be under the supervision of Ted Haas, project  attorney,  and  will 

consist of the following appointed personnel: 

L.L. Nelson, Unit I  administrator. 

J^mes  Crawford, Unit' II administrator 
Moris Burge, Unit III administrator 
Giles  L.  Zimmerman,  chief,  Employment division 

Ernest  L. Filler, chief,  Internal Security 

According to Haas the procedure  in  all probability will be to let one member 

of the Bor rd gather all data available on a certain indiv idual and then 

judgment being passed by all members of the Board  sitting  as one  body.  The 

final decision as  to  whether that individual  will  be transferred to Tule Lake 

or be given leave clearance iwll rest with the Washington o ffice. The Board 

will merely make its recommendations to the project direct or who in turn 

will transmit them to Dillon Iv Tyer .  Haas expects the hearings to continue for 

several months  --  the last group leaving for Tule Lake toward the close of 

the year . 

Repatriation 

According to the project files 660 individuals applied for  repatriation 

prior to July  1,  1943. This figure does not include those who made applica-

tions through the Spanish consul in. San Francisco or Washin gton or through 

other sources and for whom the project does not have recor ds. Of this number 

62 had retracted their applications before the deadline. 

At first the policy of the administration was to ignore appl ications 

made through sources other than the project but after som e deliberation Head 

issued Segregation. Notice  No.  1 on August  11,  1943, which stated that "All 
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those who may have made applications for repatriation t o the Spanish 

consul and have written evidence or other ve -ifioation  of having made such appli-

cation are requested to present same to the unit -elfare O ffice." I have 

be-n unable to obtain statistics on those who responded to this call but would 

imagine it to be rather small. It is reported tha the majo rity of those who 

applied for repatriation at the assembly centers are only too happy not to be 

able to present such evidence at this time. Furthermor e, those who are anxious 

to return to Japan would have s en to it long before this date that their appli-

cations had been placed on record so that they might b e called in c-se the 

exchange s"~ip could accomodate them. 

On 'ugust 9, 1943, the- project director issued  S e g r e g a t i o n  Release Ho. 5 

which announced tha^ the repatriation and expatriation li st for the three 

camps of Poston totaled 281 families or 590 persons. It fur ther claimed that ill 

of these with the exception of those whose names appeared on the list for 

sailing on the next exchange ship would be sent to "ule L ake. 

The actual number.for segregation on grounds of repatria tion is much, 

smaller than indicated'here because it included those i ndividuals who had 

never formally applied for repatriation, '*hen the proje ct issued its first call 

for repatriation in June of last year it is reported th at hundreds rushed 

to the administrative quarters to file their applicati ons, -he great 

response was primarily due to the fact that they were s till smarting under the 

impact of evacuation. They were apparently also under the impression that appli-

cations for repatriation would result in speedy passage t o Japan which was 

infinitely better than remaining in an American concent ration camp for the 

duration, teiny p-rents with little children further felt tha the possession 
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of American citizenship literally meant nothing and that i t might be better 

to bring them up as good Japanese citizens. ith reference to t his Miss 

Lou Butler, who is in charge of repatriation, stated to X: " Lots of people 

-came up and signed  p or repatriation without giving it second thought. Nov; they 

want to change. One individual even thought it would be rise jro go back to 

Japan du in? the war and come back to America after the war ." 

Somewhere toward the latter half of July of last year Head m ade an 

announcement that all those who ished to repatriate must come and sign on a 

certain date. It "urther claimed that even those who had si gned in June must 

rea  Dpiy if they wished to have their applications honored (inf erring that un-

less you signed a second time the first application woul d not be placed on re  -

cord). Meanwhile a great number had changed their minds an d did not bother to 

reapply.  ; i'hev were under the impression that since they had not rea pplied 

their n-mes ~ad been withdrawn from the repatriation list. (Recently we found 

out that the form utilized in June was one prepared by the pr oject, while the 

one in July was thè official form distributed by the " :r RA). As soon as the 

news of segregation leaked out a rumor began to spread, in c amp that those who 

had signed for repatriation only once as well a those who h ad ap ;lied on both 

occasions were on the list o^ repatriates and would be sen t to Tuie Lake. 

orried people began to investigate one by one and found tha t their names were 

actually on the stop list for requesting repatriation. 

Somewhere durine the first week of July, K to o block 45 c alled at the 

block manager's o  "  ice and requested X to find out i r ' his and his -ife's name 

were on the repatriation list. He informed him that he had applied t he first 

call but had not bothered to answer the second summons. X discovered that both 
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of their n^mes were on the stop li.t so rushed over to ¿elson 's o" ice and 

explaining -he situation to him requested to see the mem orandum issued by his 

predecessor, John Evans, in July f last- year claiming t hat those who did not 

reapply would not have their applic itiqns honored. The memo xjuld. not be 

located so "" -as sent back to confer with M s s Butler of the  '  'el fare  division. 

Since she had arrived in the.project only in. March of thi s year she was  un-

acuainted with previous administrative policies and inf ormed him thet unless 

that memo was located she could not act ua on  it.  Two days later it was un-

earthed in  Head's  office .  Since this placed an entirely different slant on 

the repatriation picture, the ""elfare Division distribu ted on July 26 the follow-

ing memorandum to all those who had re uested repatriation i n June,  1942,  but 

had failed to si~n .Then the second call was made in  July: 

Kato, Kojjro, and  lu itsuve : 

Our records saow that you made a request for repatriation or expatriation 
to Japan early last summer. Ho; ever, proper blanks were no t then in use so 
your name is not on the official list. Your failure to sign suc h blanks vhen 
opportunity was ?iven to do so later leads us to think you do n ot wish to be 
considered. If this is true, please sî n the following s tatement and bring it 
to the Family elfare Office, Unit- I. 

I hereby declare that I do not wish to apply for repatriatio n or expatria-
tion to ^apan. 

Date  -  Name 

If you ^o -ish to apply for repatriation, or'expatriation ,  you should come 
to the Family "elfare  Ur Tice and. sign the proper forrs . 

Family "elf re Division, Unit  I. 

It is claimed tha practically all of those who received this form failed to 

reapply. 

Numerous cases of name* being placed, on the repatriation list because of 

administrative inefficiency have been reported in the las t few weeks. ^ere are 
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a few representative samples: 

Mr. Il'uno,  the cashier of Community  Enterprises,  related the following 
story to  X:  "Sometime ago Roy Yoshida (assistant leave  officer)  told me that 
my name was on the «stop  list.  He told me that  I'd  better find out about  it.  So 
I  -rent up  to  the administration and they told me that I h d signed fo r 
repatriation.  They said I signed it when they called for  it  the very first 
time,  "he facts are  these:  You remember several hundred people stormed the 
office  and there was much commotion and excitement. ?he people in the office 
didn't  know what they were  doing. Anyray,  I went there for Mrs.  T.,  who 
occupied the same apartment with  me,  to find out the details. Her husband 
wasn't  going back and he wouldn't do it for  her.  it the entrance to the office 
the girl took my name down and made me  sign  a paper which contained m m y signa-
tures.  Otherwise she said she wouldn't let me  in.  So I signed  it.  Now 
Miss Butler claims that  1  signed for repatriation, ^fter a great deal of 
explanation she finally convinced and drew up an affidavi t for me. I signed it 
but  1  don't kno  -  ho good that  is.  Any  -ay,  she said that my name  is  not on the 
""ishingto" list but on the project list. She said it was better not to cancel 
because applications for cancellation re sent to 'Was hington." 

Nelson related the following to  X:  "There are several cases in which 
persons  claim thrt  they withdrew their applications for repatriation, b ut their 
names are still on the  list.  There  is  on specific case  in  block  4.  ¡-his fellow 
went to the Social elf are  office last December  to  withdraw his applications but 
the place .v-s busy \nd he was sent to the Leave  Office.  He claims that he put 
his withdrawal then but there is no such  record." 

X replied:  "You have to give those  cases full consideration  because 
you cannot penalize anyone  for  administrative  inefficiency.  *ou  know  there was 
a great deal of inefficiency and incompetency  here." 

Nelson answered: "Yeah, that's right.  But how do you know he wasn't 
lying?" 

X retorted:  "Tell,  that should be determined by the integrity of each 
individual. You  can get testimonies from his  acquaintances." 

m w m 

Mr.  and  Mrs. M. Iketani of  block  59  filed applications for repatriation 
in July, 1942,  because they were  under  the impression that by doing so they 
would be sent to Japan  immediately.  They were  also greatly  concerned over the 
future welfare of  their  two  children,  aged 9 and  11,  whose rights as  Imerican 
citizens they felt had been t >ken  away.  How-ver, as the months progressed and 
""RA policies"became more and more definite and it app eared that it was no 
longer necessary  to be  confined in  a  relocation center  for the  duration, they 
began  ;o hesitate  about returning to  Japan, Moreover,  by  this  time the future 
status of  their children  seemed  rosier.  Consequently  during  the  irst  week of 
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June, 1943,  he approached his  friend, X,  and inquired as to the procedure for 
withdrawal of application for repatriation. Since X was n ot quite certain as 
to the exact procedure he advised him to consult the projec t director. Head's 
receptionist informer) him that it was extremely difficul t to cancel applications 
and that most of those who had requested to do so had been den ied to  d^te.  He 
was further told that a thorough  F.B.I,  investigation would be necessary be-
fore his reouest could be granted. Sensing the futility of seeing head he 
returned home without consulting him.  .  few days ago he encountered X and was 
informed that applications for cancellation had been accep ted up to July  1,  1943, 
and all those who had aqplied had received favorable cons ideration. In view 
of this  1  wrote two affidavits to Miss Butler  --  one for Iketani reciting his 
attempts to cancel his application and the reasons motiv ating h^s action, and 
the other for X verifying Kietani's desire to withdraw hi s application during, 
the first week o^ Ju e. X and the Iketani family called on i' iss Butler with 
these affidavits on August 14 and were granted permission to ĉ nce- their 
applications °fter the deadline on grounds of administrat ive inefficiency. 

m m m 

With reference to administrative inefficiency in the h andling of repatria-

tion  case.?,.  Map Kawashima told X that he had sent a memorandum to Head po inting 

out 19 specific cases of names being placed on the list through administrative 

bungling. His request for leniency in these cases were app arently granted 

since he claimed that only "two failed me. !I 

Realizing the foolishness  of sending  people to i'ule Lake who do nob want 

to go there, the administration is following a tolerant a nd realistic approach 

in ignoring the July 1 deadline as far as cancellation for repatriation is con-

cerned.  As Ted Haas remarked: "It will be difficult to get out of T ule 

Lake once an individual gets  there.  It's wiser to consider the case here and pass 

judp-ment on  it."  To illustrate this attitude I shall cite the case of  Dr. 

i'urase, who applied for repatriation last year and faile d to cancel it before 

July  1.  Both Dr. and  s  •  I'urase received a notice from the State Department 

a few months ago informing them that their names appeale d on the list requested 

sent beck by the  J apanese government and inouiring whether they wished to acc ept 

the invitation or not. Both refused the o f̂er and shortly af terwards  Mrs. 
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Murase alone withdrew her application. On July  2,  Dr. Murase applied for 

cancellation. Since this occurred a day after the deadli ne his name appeared on 

the list to be transferred to Tule Lake. He protested claimi ng he could not 

find time earlier to apply for cancellation because of t he shortage of doctors 

at the hospital. He contended further that his refusal t o return to Japan on 

the exchange ship should be sufficient evidence of his int ention of remaining 

in this country. Head accepted his cancellation even th ough it was filed after 

the deadline. I do not know the exact statistics on cases of this sort but it 

is reported to be rather large. 

On August  14,  Head issued Segregation Release No .  8 A which announced 

that ""fives or other members of a family now residing in P oston, who had made 

application prior to July first, to move to the Crystal Ci ty family internment 

camp will not be segregated to the Tule L^ke center at this t ime. They will re-

main in Poston pending official action on their applica tion." 

On August 24, twenty residents, listed in the repatriati on category, left 

for Hew ^ork via Gila to be returned to ¿apan on the exch ange  ship.  The 

following day an additional seven departed for Gila to join the first group. 

The deleting oP all of the above individuals from the or iginal list of 

repatriates compiled in Segregation Release  No.  5A will probably cause a sub-

stantial drop in the number of repatriates actually to b e transferred to Tule 

Lake in early October. 

Requests for Pepatriation after July  1,  1943 

When the segregation news was announced  in  the Poston Chronicle on ^uly 

28,  lj elson reported that "500 individuals" stormed the unit administrator's 

office in Camp III to reouest repatriation because they were afraid they would 

be compelled to relocate if they remained in Poston. By g oing to Tule Lake 

they hoped to be guaranteed room and board for the duration . Ted Haas with 
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reference to  this claimed Nelson's  statement a "gross exaggeration" but there 

must have been some basis for  it  because the Camp  III  page of the Japanese 

section of the Poston Chronicle printed the following arti cle on July  31, 1943: 

"It is  expected that the  details  of segregation will be announced 
to the public as  soon  as  Director  Head  returns.  However, the article  in  the 
Los Angeles Examiner of the 28th  claiming that "76,000  Japanese from the 
relocation  centers  will  be released" has greatly disturbed the  residents. 
Some hasty people are  rushing  to the administration to demsnd applications  for • 
repatriation.  Regarding  this,  acting director Burge  issued  the following state-
ment on the 29th:  '  (Cf.  page 9 of  this report). 

Assistant Onager  r umino  of Unit III warned the people to refrain from 
rash and hasty  acts.  He pointed  out  that  it is  impossible to abolish all of 
the relocation centers  entirely  for the following  reasons: 

(1)  The Examiner statement  in  Director  Myer's unofficial  personal 
statement,  '¿he abolition of all the relocation centers is his opini on of long 
standing . 

(2) The government should not release evacuees without d ue consideration 
once the people have been evacuated and their lives have been  uprooted from 
the ir f oundations . 

(3) The United States government is responsible for their l ivinc and for 
public sentiment towards the Japanese after they have b een released. 

(4) Although the Dies Committee and public opinion reques ted the 
segregat  ion  o'' the disloyal from the loyal, present public opinion r uoports 
the maintenance  o J"'  the centers." 

As ^ar as Units  I. and II were concerned there was no sudden rush to apply 

for repatriation. The few who applied gave the following motives for such 

action : 

"I don't  want to go outside. If I remained here the  'R A  will put pressure 
on us to go outside. They will close the camp sooner or late r. If I go to 
Tule LnV e I am safe for the duration. They can't kick me out of there. " 

"My family  is  going there.  I don't  want to be separated from them." 
•Thus  Nakachi,  the ch-irman of the  L.R.B.,  applied for repatriation because his 
son answered double negative and is Tule Lake bound. This attitude was quHe 
prevalent until the administration announced that it was unnece —ary for families 
of segreg^tns to apply for repatriation. 

"I  want to sign for repatriation so I can be sure that I will get first 
chance to return to Japan after the  war." 
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On August  1, 1943, the "elfare division officially  ceased  to  accept 

new applications for repatriation, but on August  25,  issued the following 

announcement : 

August  25,  1943 

Family "elfare Department 

Persons wishing to make applicati n for repatriation may ap ply now 

at the welfare  division  offices i" the different  units,  for an appointment. 

Interviews will not begin until September  2,  and those who had made appli-

c t ion  prior  to lugust  1 will  be interviewed  first.  Repatriation applications 

have not been accepted since ugust  1  because  of  the segregation  priority. 

iss Alice  Cheney,  associate  counsellor,  will be in charge of repatria-

tion interviews  in  Unit  Ij Miss  :sther Rhoads, assistant counsellor, in Unit 

2;  and "i.ss  Alice Grube,  assistant counsellor, in Unit  3. 

/s/  Lou Butler 

Chief of elfare division 

Those who applied for repatriation after July  1, 1943,  however, will 

not be transferred to Tule L ake at the same time as the rest of the repatriates 

but  rill  be first ^iven a hearing by the Board of Review for  L eave Clearance 

afte 1" the main segregation program has been  complete-)  . 

Family Splits 

On uasrust  11,  the ,Tr elfare division began to interview all those who had 

been recommended to go to Tule Lake by the Board of Review fo r Segregation 

.to determine what other members of the family desired to a ccompany  them.  In 

Segregation Release  No.  6A  -  hich announced this procedure,  : 'ead requested each 

member o^ the segregant'S' family over 14 years of age to be' present at the 

interview-so that the "whole famil' may take p rt in makin g the best possible 
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plans for their own  future." 

Because of  the strong  family solidarity  of the  Japanese,  cases  of 

family splits  reported to date are  rather rare. More  comron  are stories such 

as these where the entire family  is planning to accompany  the  black  sheep  into 

exile  . 

In block 13  there are two Issei brothers who  °re  both married  to Kibei 
girls  -ho stubbornly adhered  to  their double negatives during the recent  hearings. 
The Issei men are lamenting because they feel obligate d to follow their 
spouses to Tule  Lake. 

Two of Ted  Haas*  best secretaries who  are  both over twenty years of age 
are  Tu' e  Lake bound because their parents  applied for  repatriation and are  in-
sisting that the entire family must go together. 

A Kibei in block  45 answered  double negative. His  Ai ibei  wife does not 
vant to go to Tule L ake but  is  making plans to go there since she  is  a good 
Japanese -ife and  will  follow  her  husband into  exile. 

A Nisei girl married a double negative a few months  ago.  Now she is 
furious at he" husband and is crying indignantly:  T"  Tiy  didn't  you tell me you 
answered double negative during registration? I  wouldn't  have married you then." 

A man in block 2 answered double negative and  is  insisting th*t his wife 
accompany  him.  They are reported to be having quarrels daily because she does 
not wish to Pollow  him. 

A.  twenty-year-old ?lrlc who has ne- r r̂ set foot in  J apan before was 
compe'led to go there recently xvith her parents on the exc hange ship sailing 
September  1st.  Her parents could not see any sense in leaving her behin d. 

A farmer's daughter, aged  18, in  whose name al the family's real estate 
and bank accounts are  listed,  answered double negative during registration and 
stuck to her guns during the  hearings.  Her parents are said to be considerably 
worried not only because the" will hrve to go to T u le Lake with her but 
because they re uncertain as to the fate of their  property.  /hen the father 
expressed his concern to a good friend, the litter inquire d: "Have you talked 
to your daughter about this?" lie replied:  "No, I haven't".  It appears 
that the  fnther  was the one who encouraged his d  ughter  to answered negatively 
during registration and could not very well ar-k her  to  reconsider without  losing 
face  . 

A Kibei ife in block 45  thought he 1"  husband, had answered double negative 
so proceeded to  buy  a  lot  o" heavy und-rwear in preparation for Tule Lake. 
However, he was not called for a hearing  so  she accosted one of her female 
"riends:  "You're  the one who  told  me my  husband  answered  'No, No',  but he 
hasn't  been called  yet.  Looks  like  he  isn't  going to be  called." 
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The friend answered  "No,  he  won't  be  called." 
The wife replied angrily: ""Thy  didn't  you tell me?" 
The other  declared: '""hat's  none  of  my business to tell  you. hy 

don't  you ask  your  own husband ?" 
She replied:  "That's  his  personal  matter. I'm  not suppose to ask 

him -bout  it.  But you should have told me  if  you  knew."  According to X they 
have not been on speaking, terms since this incident occu rred. 

The following' are the only cases of family splits which I h ave been 

able to record: 

One "/omen  in  block 5 is not accompanying her husband to Tule. Lake for 
the sake of their little  children.  She doe? not -rant the stigma of disloyalty 
to be attached to them. 

In block 21 or  22  an  *ssei  applied  for  repatriation and  is  n ule Lake 
bound. His  wife who is a  îsei is  saying-  "I'm  not going to ~'ule  Lake.  Before 
you  to there,  I  want you to divorce me." 

In one of the  block  managers' meeting one of the managers cited the 
case of a  16  year old boy who wants to relocate but his parents are tr ansferring 
to Pule  Lq>e.  ;: o .go out a guardian must be appointed for  him.  -he manager 
wished to know if the boy could rejoin his parents at the se gregation center 
even after a guardian had been appointed  to  look after him — in other words 
he wanted to know if the boy had the right to cancel  his  guardianship if 
relocation proved to be a failure for  him.  Nelson assured the manager tha 4" he 
could do  so. 

I'-Yr•  Ka--ai of block  4f,  after some deliberation decided to remain in 
Foston  with  h~r common- law  husband rather than  acr  cnpany  her  "disloyal" son 
to Tule Lake.  t  the time of  her son's  interview Miss Cheney of the "elfare 
Division  insisted  that she must either transfer to Tule Lake  or  live separately 
from her present hunband because she was not  legally  mTried to  him. X,  as 
block manager, objected to the attitude of Ohe ney whom, he described as a "God-
damn narrow-minded  bitch",  so  I  h-  tily scribbled  the following memorandum to 
Head to request the "elfare  ̂ ivision  to "adopt  a more  tolerant and realistic 
approach" to the disposition of her  case: 

T. — 
For son's attitude consult page 22 of this report. 
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MEMORANDUM TO:  Mr .  '.T.  Tade  Head, Project Director 

FROM: Manager, Block  45 

SUBJECT: The Segregation Case of  Mrs. Fukumatsu  Kawai 

DATE: August  18, 1S43' 

Mr.  Kazuo Kawai of  45-4-cJ,  who has been recommended by the Board of 
Review for Segregation to go to the Tule Lake  Center, called  at my office 
Monday morning, lugust  16, 1943,  for advice concerning the future welfare  of  his 
mother. He explained that when he was interviewed  by  the Telfare Division on 
Thursday,  August  12,  he had told Miss Alice Cheney that  it  was his  mother's  wish 
as well as his that she remain in Poston with his stepfathe r rather than accompany 
him  to Tule  L ake  .  :\t that  time Miss  Cheney had decreed that  h ;  s  mother  must 
either transfer to Tule  Lake or ive  separately from her husband in Poston since 
she was not legally married to  him.  She had  instructed  him at the close of the 
interview to send  his  mother and her  common-law  husband  to  her office on Monday 

but he wanted  my  advice before informing them. 
« 

I  immediately consulted  lr.  Haas as to the legal st tus of  common- law 
marriage in Poston and was informed that there was nothin g in the legal machinery 
here to prevent a couple from living together.  However,  since the Attorney 
General of California  has  ruled that evacuees still hold legal residence in 
California we are theoretically supposed to abide by Cali fornia law  which  does 
not recognize  common- law marriage although  it is  sanctioned in most of the other 

states . 

I  subsequently contacted Miss Cheney to verify the statem ents made by 
Mr.  Kawai earlier in the morning. "hen I protested th«t common -law marriage  is 
not considered illegal here she  replied: that's  the use of getting a marriage 
license then?" She was greatly concerned that the condo nation of such a practice 
would be a bad influence"on young people.  I  argued that that depended on  their 
ap-e  -- if  they were very young they would not  understand;  if they were old 
enough they would not  mind. Since  we were obviously approaching the problem 
from"different angles we could reach no agreement and drop ped the matter at 
this  point. 

At lunch time  1  cornered  Mr. Kawai, his mother,  and  Mr. Ikuno,  his 
stepfather, and acquainted them with my experiences durin g the  morning.  -'hey 
unanimously agreed that  it  was none of M s s  Cheney's  business to  meddle in  their 
Mr.  Ikuno then assured his stepson in my presence that he woul d ontinue to take 
good o re of his mother as he had done  in  the past eight years. 

After lunch  I  revisited  ^r.  Haas to inquire whether the case  i" his 
opinion would fall within the c tegory of  illicit  cohabitation as defined 
in the penal code of  Boston.  He explained that the framers of the penal  code 
did  not"intend common-law marriage to be included  in  that classification unless 
the residents protested against such a  practice. 
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I then took %-s. Kawai to the Welfare division to be intervi ewed by 
Miss Cheney. She wished to know why  M rs. Kawai had not brought her husband 
along so I explained that  this,  was a hearing on segregation and that he had nothing 
to do with it". All that was really necessary as far as I cou ld see was for 
her to ask Mrs. K awai whether she desired to go to Tule Lake or not.  •  iss 
Cheney retorted at this point that the "elfare Division like to handle every 
social problem as it came up. She elaborated that she w as not insinuating that 
Mr. Kawai was a bad woman but advised her to go through a mar riage ceremony immed-
iately if she preferred o remain in Foston. When ^rs. Kaw ai replied that many 
circumstances rere involved and that she did not wish to d ecide the issue at 
the moment  ili iss Cheney demanded to know why she refused to get marri ed. Mrs. 
Kawai explained that she had always entertained the idea o f returning to Japan 
somedav but since her husband had no such desire they had d ecided it was wiser 
to retain their present status.  M iss Cheney interrupted at this point that 
if she wished to"return to  J apan she should transfer to Tule Lake. She argued 
that after the war boats would be unavailable for some tim e and that she would 
secure earlier passage by going to Tule Lake. 

/hen M r . Ikuno was brought to the elfare division at the insist ence 
of Miss Cheney later in the afternoon he contended that th e marriage problem 
was an entirely separate matter from segregation and did not desire to discuss 
it at the moment. Furthermore, he believed it was his pe rsonal affair and did 
not wish to be molested. 

From all indications it appears that unless Mrs. Kawai unde rgoes a socially 
acceptable marriage ceremony in the immediate future Miss  Cheney is determined 
to send her to Tule Lake or compel her to live separate ly from her husband 
in Poston. As block manager keenly interested in the wel fare of my block 
residents, I wish to raise the following objections to such an administrative 
attitude: 

(1) I am convinced that segregation is a momentous event, second only 
in importance  to  evacuation in the lives of those affected, and feel tha t it 
should not be confused with extraneous matters which have no relevance what-
soever to the question. I strongly believe that the maki ng of a decision by 
Mrs. Kawai should not be influenced by personal matters which have absolutely 
no connection with the primary question of segregatio n. It is my understanding 
that only those who desire to follow the segregant to Tule Lake are supposed 
to do so and that the administration will not compel anyo ne to transfer there 
against his wishes. Hence the main issue to me is not whethe r Mrs. Kawai will 
remain in Poston with her common-law husband but wheth er she wishes to follow 
her son to Tule Lake. The fact that % . Ikuno has assured h is stepson in my 
presence that he will take good care of his mother shou ld be sufficient evidence 
that she will be well taken care of during the segregant's  absence. I have 
known Mr. Ikuno for over fifteen years and can vouch for hi s honesty and 
sincerity in carrying out his promises. 

(2) Miss Cheney 1s main contention is that both Mrs. Kawai and Mr. 
Ikuno have legal residence in California, a state whic h does not recognize 
common-law marr.iage. My argument is that common-law m arriages have flourished 
for years in C lifornia but the law-enforcing agencie s have not bothered 
to suppress them. Mrs. K aWai and Mr. Ikuno have lived together for eight 
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years and entered Poston as man and  wife.  They live happily together and 
block 45 has accepted them as man and  wife.  As far as the residents are  con-
cerned there  is  no moral issue involved, except perhaps  in  the minds of  s 

Caucasian ex-missionaries and evacuee Christian leaders w ho I feel interpret 
the teachings of their Ma :ter rather  narrowly.  If objections on moral grounds 
had been raised by the block residents,  I,  as block manager, would have acted 
upon it even before it reached the Bamily .Telfare  Division. I  am by no means 
advocating the wholesale practice of common-law marriage in Poston but feel that 
those xTho entered camp as man and wife should not be molest ed at the present 
time.  As far as Miss Cheney's fear that it  ill  be bad influence on young 
people is concerned.  I  wish to state that there is no such danger from, that 
quarter.  The  Nisei,  with only a few notable exceptions, have swallowed in to to 
the virtues and prejudices of i-iddle Class American socie ties so  it  will not 
occur to them to indulge in such a practice. 

(3)  All residents of Camp  I  did not come from  California.  According 
to  Mr.  Haas many states sanction  common-lav/  marriage so confusion will surely 
result  if  ¿ve attempted to enforce the laws of various states in  Foston. 

(4)  According to  I'.'r.  Haas there is no TRA regulation prohibiting common-
law marriage in relocation centers. The fact that so many in dividuals have lived 
in  this state unmolested  for over  a year implies silent acceptance by the  1<A. 
Furthermore, when the legal status of common-law marriage c ame up for discussion 
in the fifth meeting of the Temporary Community Council o n August  12,  1S42, 

in  connection with the section on Illicit Cohabitation in th e Proposed•Code of 
Offenses, it was generally agreed among the council mem bers that any couple 
who entered cam.p as man and wife even though they actually w ere not should be 
recognized until the real husband appeared to  protest.  According to Ir .  Haas 
this attitude has been carried over into the newly revised code of offenses. 

(5) My contention, therefore,  is  that if the residents of a block  are 
willing to accept common-law marriage the administrati on should not instigate 
otherwise unnecessary dissension by suppressing such a pra ctice. Common-law 
marriage is a deep-rooted institution in Japanese  culture.  Acculturation 
studies conducted by anthropologists all over the world ind icate that sudden-
attempts to eradicate age-old traditions by government edict or missionary zeal 
generally have a chaotic  ending.  Since deep-rooted social institutions cannot 
be changed overnight  I  b lieve that the best policy for the ."elfare Division 

--  anyway, for the "resent — will be to adopt the attitude: "L et well enough 

alone." 

To eliminate the anxiety of the Kawais and to facilitate the making of 
a decision by  Ivrs.  Kawai I respectfully appeal to you as project director 
to reouest the elfare Division to adopt a more tolerant and realistic approach 
to the disposition of her case. 
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I reiterate that segregation is a vital matter in the li ves of those affected 
and the making of decision should not be influenced by extra neous matters which 
have no pertinence to the question. If Christian prudery d emands that the 
couple be married to entitle them to live together in Post on, I believe it should 
be requested later when the problems of segregation have be en settled. I 
protest the method of Miss Cheney threatening to send 1-rs.  Kawai to Tule Lake 
unless she goes through a marriage ceremony with Mr. Ikuno  immediately. 
I interpret such action to be punishment for Mrs. Kawai for practising common-
law marriage. It is my understanding that the punishment ce nter for undesirables 
is Leupp, not Tule Lake; that Tule Lake, according to your Se gregation Release 
No. 3 A, is for "those people who have indicated their desir e to follow the 
Japanese way of life, or who have renounced their allegianc e to the United 
States and whose movements must therefore be restricted i n time of war." 

Your prompt consideration of this matter will be greatly a ppreciated. 

/s/ Richard S. ^ishimoto 
Richard S. Nishimoto 
Manager, ^lock 45 
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The day after X handed this memorandum to Head's secretary , H ea d 

and "elson called at this office and commended him on the "best memo we've re-

eeived so far." Head requested him at that time to inform M rs. Kawai that 

it was unnecessary for her to go to Tule Lake or go through a marriage 

ceremony with  ia r. Ikuno because as farras the administration was concer ned, 

eight years of living together as man and wife constit uted "legal marriage" 

to them. 

A case which technically does not belong here but which has b een 

i-eluded because of considerable interest is that of a K ibei who answered 

"Yes" to 27 and 28 at the time of registration at the instiga tion of his Nisei 

wife. Since he had always promised that he would do ever ything the way his 

Kibei friends did. he could not reveal this "cowardly act"  to them. Then all his 

friends were c-lled before the hearing board and returned home proudly declaring 

thab they had stuck to their convictions he couM not bear t o show his face 

among them. Now all of them are preparing to go to Tule Lake and he is extremely 

miserable. His wife is pregnant and he is hoping in his lo neliness to find 

a "new outlook on life" throug his unborn child. 

Issei-Nisei ttitudes Toward Segregation 

Here are some of the attitudes toward segregation that we have been b̂le 

to collect from Issei and Nisei in camp. Interestingly en ough, practically 

all of them appear to condone segregation. 

1°sei Attitudes: 

"The Diet sent a message through the Spanish consul that we should 
conduct ourselves with prudence and ope. It means that Nise i should act 
like loyal mericans.'' 

"Even Gen. raki announced over the radio that Nisei whould fi ght for 
America." 
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"Japan does not appreciate the behavior on the part of  "No,  No"  kids. 
I  don't  think she would give any  credit for their attitude." 

"•Yell,  they didn't treat the %se i like American  citizens,  did they? 
It is natural that they ans-ered  'No'  to  27  and  28. If  the  U.S.  government 
wanted them to be loyal -hey should have treated them  like  loyal American 
citizens ." 

"This is the way the government wants to punish us  mildly.  They are going 
to assemble the  'disloyal 1 together and jmericanize  then.  The  •  are going to 
try to make them  loyal.' 

"Nothing we can do about  it." 

"There is so ~iuch talk outside about disloyal people in fluencing loyal-
ones in camp that the 7RA had to quiet down public  criticism." 

"This  is  to speed up the relocation  program.  They want to vacate all 
the relocation cmps  soon." 

"'"hen people put down in black and white that they are di sloyal, the 
government can't very well ignore that. It must do some thing about it." 

"Then they said: 'Those who want to go to Japan come and sign for  it,' 
I though there was something f.ishy." 

"Tule Lake will not be any better than  Poston.  '*'he pro-Japanese tendency 
will be accentuated and drastic action might be taken by the agitators. If any 
disturbance occurs the Army will take control immediate ly so conditions will 
not be any better than here." 

"It can't be helped. It will be all the same everywhere. The s egregation 
camp can't be worse than here." 

Many Issei are asking at present whether the Army or the  IRA was respon-
sible for the registration in Febr  ary.  They feel that the administration was 
at fault in not revealing the "true intention" of registrat ion. It compelled 
the evacuees to register without making them realize the co nsequences. 

Some residents consider those ivho are going to L'ule Lake 'saps". If 
they can return to Japan immediately by transferring the re, they see some 
advantage in it but since  that's  improbably they are ridiculing  then. 

Nisei Attitudes: 

"They had it coming to them." 

"Some are trying to change their  'No's'  to  'Yes's'  but that wouldn't 
be allowed." 
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"Too  many  guys didn't  know their own  minds.  They were too easily 

influenced by agitators." 

"Too many people were irrational and flippant. They were t oo easily 

influenced by  others." 

"Segregation had to take place to appease certain factions  in Congress 
and in C lifornia -nd  r izona, and also to facilitate  the  administering of 

r. 

the centers." 

-ith reference to the shibai group putting up a farewell show on Sept. 
19 for the Tule Lake  bound,  George Fujii commented:  "Let's  not treat them like 

criminals ." 

"hen X asked his  friend,  Saito, the block manager of  59,  whether his block 
was planning to give a farewell party for the segregahts he re torted:  "Hell, 

hy should we ~ive them any block party?"  Jo,  the manager of block  32,  yho^was 
standing  by,  added: "Suppose you were in Japan,  they'll  t hem you in  jail. 

Statistics: 

The latest statistics revealed by the segregation office o n August 

25 indicates that at least 1468 individuals will be trans ferred to Tule  L ake 

in early  October.  This is not the total figure leaving Poston since it does 

not include those who may be recommended for segregation by the  d oard of 

Review for Leave Clearance or those in the repatriation cate gory whose cases 

are still under investigation. These are the latest fig ures for repatriates 

and those who answered "No" to question 28 for the three ca mps: 

Camp I Camp II Camp III 

Repatriates 325  133 14 
Family members of Repatriates 5b bb ¿o 

Those who answered "No"  122  ISO 3b 
family members of "No" individuals 180 315  oo 

663  699 106 

It is interesting to note that C|mp  II,  which has less than half the population 

of Camp  I,  actually has a greater number leaving for Tule Lake. 

The following  is  a block by block analysis of the number of people to be 

transferred to Tule Lake from Camp I in the order of decrea sing number. The 

figures for each block fluctuate from day to day dependi ng on the number of 
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family members who decide to accompany the segregant. The list is based on 

figures obtained from the office of the block manager's sup ervisor on August 28: 

-ring Area from which evacuated 

Orange County 

Orange County 

Riverside 

Imperial Valley and Los Angeles 

Delano and Orange County 

Mixed (Mostly from Salinas A.C.) 

Oceanside and Orange County 

Mixed 

Salinas Assembly Center 

BakersfieId 

Oceanside and Orange County 

Orange County and Oceanside 

Orange County 

Orange County 

Salinas A.C. 
\ 

Orange County 

Los Angeles and Imperial Valley 

Orange County 

Imperial Valley 

Imperial Valley 

Imperial Valley 

Block No. 

37 59 

43 35 

4 33 

26 32 

3 N 

is, / 

30 

44 29 

-  6 25 

16\ 

19 23 

ZZy 

12N 

21 22 

38 / 

17 19 

5 18 

59^ 

28 
/ 

17 

42 16 

39 14 

54 12 
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11 

14 

27 

46 
/ 

36 

2 

15 

30 

45 

60 

31 

35 

53 

32 

11 

10 

\  � 

/ 

Mixed 

Mixed 

Orange County 

Los Angeles 

Los Angeles 

Los Angeles 

Arizona 

Los Angeles 

Los Angeles 

Imperial Valley 

Salinas Assembly Center 

Los Angeles 

Imperial Valley 

Salinas Assembly Center 

An accurate interpretation of these figures would, of cou rse, have to take 

into consideration a number of factors,  e.g.  the size of family groups, but 

even cursory analysis may be of interest. The largest numbers seem to come 

from three adjoining rural areas in southern Californi a — namely Orange County, 

Oceanside, and riverside counties. The lowest figures come from blocks inhabited 

by people from L o s  Angeles, Imperial Valley and the Salinas Assembly Cente r. 

That the Los Angeles groups contributed so few to the segre gation center may be 

partly accounted for by the fact that urban peoples are mor e cosmopolitan in  out-

look and are considerably more opportunistic than rural dwellers. The low 

figures for Imperial Valley areas are not at all surpri sing when we recall that 

directly after Pearl Harbor a number of prominent Issei  and Nisei in the Valley 
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in conjunction with the American Legionnaires drew up a re solution forswearing 

all allegiance to the Japanese Empire which they advert ised in English and 

Japanese dailies. The low figures for blocks 31 and 32 s tand in marked contrast 

to other Salinas blocks but the incongruity might be exp lained by the fact 

that there is a great concentration of office workers in these blocks. Because 

of their proximity to the administration area a number of clerical workers and 

professionals requested to be moved to these blocks. 

The quad embracing blocks 37 and 43 has long been regar ded the most 

"Japanesy" section of Camp I. It not only has a high concen tration of male 

Kibei but is also the stronghold of active Buddhists who a re generally more old 

Torldist than Christians. Block 37, furthermore, is the h ome of Jimmy ^ahiro, 

and block 43, that of ̂ amatani -- two agitators who were  actively advising people 

during registration to answer double negative. The pr esence o^ shady political 

figures like Nagai and Andy Sugimoto, may also account f or the high figures in 

blocks 3 and "4. 

The original plan for the transfer of the segregants ca lled for a block 

to block removal of repatriates followed by those who an swered negatively to 

question 28, but on August 26 H ead announced that no distinction would be made 

in classification and that all of the ^egregants from one block would be removed 

at the same time. Instructions from "Washington provide fro movement in two 

c-roips but a special dispensation was secured for Poston to insure orderly 

evacuation. 


